6

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
S. JACKSON KIMBALL, SPECIAL CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE
Case No. 2015-CP-46-01409
Appellate Case No.: 2016-001921

IN RE:

RECEIVED

Deborah Dereede Living Trust dated
December 18, 2013

AUG 15 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Hugh Dereede and Tyre Dealer Network
Consultants, Inc., Respondents,

v.

Courtney Feeley Karp, Individually and
As Trustee of the Deborah Dereede Living
Trust dated December 18, 2013 and Michael
Fehily, as a qualified beneficiary of the
Deborah Dereede Living Trust dated
December 18, 2013, Defendants,

Of which

Courtney Feeley Karp, Individually and
As trustee of the Deborah Dereede Living

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXERCISING SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION IN THIS MATTER, WHEN THE TERMS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT CLEARLY PROVIDE FOR DISPUTES TO BE DECIDED BY A TRUST PROTECTOR. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE COURT SHOULD HAVE DECLINED TO EXERCISE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION IN LIGHT OF THE SETTLOR'S CLEAR INTENT, AS EXPRESSED IN THE TRUST AGREEMENT, THAT DISPUTES REGARDING HER TRUST BE ADJUDICATED OUT OF COURT UNLESS THE TRUST PROTECTOR DETERMINED OTHERWISE.
- II. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE TRUSTEE WHEN THE FACTS WERE STIPULATED AND THE TRUST PROTECTOR HAD VALIDATED THE DECISIONS OF THE TRUSTEE. AS A RESULT, THE TRUSTEE WAS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT IN HER FAVOR ON LIABILITY AND THE NO CONTEST CLAUSE.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE TRUSTEE'S OBLIGATIONS REGARDING DISTRIBUTION TO HUGH AND HIS COMPANY WERE CLEAR FROM THE LANGUAGE OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT, BECAUSE THE TRUST AGREEMENT WAS AMBIGUOUS IN MULTIPLE RESPECTS. AS A RESULT, THE TRIAL JUDGE SHOULD HAVE DEFERRED TO THE OPINION OF THE TRUST PROTECTOR THAT APPELLANT HAD ACTED APPROPRIATELY.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT HUGH'S COMPANY WAS BOTH A BENEFICIARY AND A CREDITOR AND THAT APPELLANT HAD VIOLATED HER FIDUCIARY DUTY WITH RESPECT TO THE CORPORATION. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONCLUDE THAT RESPONDENTS VIOLATED THE "NO CONTEST" PROVISION OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT AND IN DETERMINING RESPONDENTS HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO BRING THIS ACTION.
- V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ENTERING JUDGMENT AGAINST APPELLANT IN HER INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY, BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE REFLECTED THAT SHE ACTED ONLY IN HER REPRESENTATIVE CAPACITY FOR ALL MATTERS RELEVANT TO THIS MATTER.
- VI. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS TO RESPONDENTS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from two orders of the circuit court in a matter which originated in probate court. Appellant Courtney Feeley-Karp (hereafter "Courtney") is the adult daughter of the decedent, Deborah Dereede (hereafter "decedent" or "Courtney's/her mother"). By designation of the decedent, Courtney serves both as personal representative of her mother's estate and successor trustee of the decedent's trust (decedent serving as the initial trustee during her lifetime). Respondent Hugh Dereede (hereafter "Hugh") had been the decedent's husband since 2010¹. Respondent Tyre Dealer Network Consultants Inc. (hereafter "Hugh's company") is, on information and belief, a Canadian company owned or controlled by Hugh.

Hugh and his company filed suit against Courtney four months after her mother's death, asserting that Courtney had breached her fiduciary duty to him and his company by failing to make a priority distribution to him from the trust immediately after the sale of real property owned by the Trust, notwithstanding Courtney's other obligations under the trust agreement and notwithstanding financial obligations of the estate which had to be paid from the trust and the mandatory claims period for the estate. In essence, he claimed the distribution to his company and to himself had to be made regardless of any other obligations of the trust or estate debts.

Courtney moved for judgment on the pleadings and for summary judgment, both of which were denied. Following a nonjury trial, the Circuit Court found Courtney had breached her fiduciary duty to Hugh and his company, and awarded damages and attorney's fees to both (not

¹ Decedent also had an adult son, Michael Fehily, who was named as a defendant but has not participated in this action.

distinguishing between the two). On reconsideration, the circuit court clarified that Courtney was liable to Hugh and his corporation both individually and in her capacity as Trustee. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

Decedent executed a revocable trust agreement on December 18, 2013, while she was married to Hugh, but after she began treatment for the cancer that would take her life. (R. pp. 506-507 ¶¶ 6-8). On the same day she created the trust, Decedent transferred a residence in York County, South Carolina into the trust, which was recorded at Book 13883, Page 240³. At the time of her death, decedent owned two (2) other homes, not in South Carolina, neither of which had been put in the trust. (R. p. 244, lines 6-23).

Decedent died on August 15, 2014. (R. p. 508, ¶ 24). Pursuant to decedent's directives, her daughter Courtney was appointed as personal representative and assumed the duties of Trustee of her mother's now-irrevocable trust. (R. p. 508, ¶¶ 28 & 29).

The estate had liquid no assets, not even enough to pay for the decedent's funeral. (R. pp. 510-512, ¶¶ 43 & 56; R. p. 256, lines 12-17). The estate had significant debts and expenses, and one of decedent's three houses (in Arizona, which had two mortgages on it) was in pre-foreclosure. (R. p. 256, line 12 – p. 257, line 13). "There were costs associated with the estate, including the maintenance of three houses, the preparing for the sale of the other two houses, among other things." (R. p. 256, lines 14-17; R. p. 260, lines 6-9; lines 19-23).

As PR, Courtney prevented the house in Arizona from going into foreclosure so she could maximize its value for the estate. (R. p. 258, lines 4-12). There were medical bills associated with the decedent's continuing treatment for breast cancer leading up to her death. (R. p. 258, lines 15-16; R. p. 259, line 20 – p. 260, line 8). There was credit card debt. (R. p. 258, lines 15-22).

² This Statement of Facts includes a recitation of all facts relevant to the multiple issues raised on appeal.

³ The deed is not designated for inclusion in the record as its status as a trust asset is not disputed.

Courtney, who is a practicing lawyer in Massachusetts, construed South Carolina law to require the Trust to pay any debts of the estate before making any trust distributions. (R. p. 250, lines 2-9; R. pp. 509-511, ¶¶ 32, 33, 35 - 38, 45). She familiarized herself with the requirements of South Carolina law to properly administer the trust and estate. (R. p. 250, lines 5-11).⁴ The estate was complex, since the decedent had owned real property in three states, and Courtney recalled her mother being in litigation some years prior as a result of the closure of a business. (R. p. 510, ¶ 39). Because the estate could not do so, Courtney and her husband paid for her mother's funeral expenses. (R. p. 511, ¶ 50; R. p. 262, lines 7-14).

Courtney's life was complicated at this time not only by her mother's death and her new responsibilities as personal representative and trustee. Shortly before her mother died⁵, Courtney gave birth to a child, who was born at 26 weeks' gestation, weighing one pound and six ounces. Lucy was still in the neonatal intensive care unit when Courtney's mother died and Courtney became the personal representative and trustee. (R. p. 507, ¶¶ 13-15; R. p. 311, lines 1-8). She was also returning to work. *Id.* (lines 8-12).

The trust agreement had conflicting terms but Courtney attempted to balance the provisions and act appropriately. (R. pp. 509-510, ¶¶ 32, 33, 35-38), Courtney interpreted Section 1 of the trust as a testamentary power of appointment where the settlor had reserved the right to make other gifts, other trusts, or otherwise provide for disposition of her property during her lifetime and she was required to allow the estate creditor period to expire before she made any distributions from

⁴ The trial judge interrupted Courtney's answer but the content reflects that Courtney did, in fact, consult South Carolina law. *Id.* She later confirmed that she had educated herself on South Carolina trust law. (R. p. 296, line 25 – p. 297, line 5).

⁵ Decedent died on August 15, 2014. Courtney's baby, Louisa Catherine Karp ("Lucy") was born on June 16, 2014. (R. p. 303, lines 9-15; R. p. 311, lines 3-8).

the trust. (R. p. 302, lines 11–18). She believed her decision was mandated by the trust agreement. (R. p. 303, line 21 – p.304, line 1). She also interpreted the trust to require that all trust beneficiaries were subject to the six-month requirement of the trust, *i.e.*, required to respect the instruction set forth in the trust to wait six months before distribution. (R. p. 304, lines 2–10). She was certain that if she paid money to Hugh before the six-month period passed and a contingency arose which required payment of estate debts or devise by subsequent will, Hugh would not have returned any money to the trust. (R. p. 304, lines 6-10).

Courtney obtained a purchaser and scheduled a closing to occur in December 2014, only four (4) months after her mother's death. (R. p. 511, ¶¶ 51 & 52). Through his counsel, Hugh contacted the closing attorney and directed that \$250,000.00 of the sales proceeds be paid to his company per the trust and Hugh wanted his half of the net sales proceeds. *Id.* At Para. 53.

Courtney explained to Hugh that she could not make any trust distributions until all of the estate creditors were identified and satisfied. *Id.* At 54-56. Courtney consulted with counsel and confirmed that her reading of the trust documents prevented her from making any distributions from the trust at that time. *Id.* At 57 & 58. (R. pp. 515-516, ¶ 5). The trust's counsel (in Arizona, who was representing the trust and estate in dealing with the probate issues in Arizona), communicated with Hugh's counsel, who "acknowledged that he would advise his client similarly if he were in my position." *Id.*

The closing for the sale of the house occurred on December 19, 2014, a Friday. (R. p. 306, lines 11–13). Proceeds were transferred to the trust's bank account the following Monday, December 22, 2014. (R. p. 512, ¶¶ 61-63; R. p. 304, lines 14-18). Hugh demanded a total payment of almost \$300,000.00 that day. (R. p. 501; R. p. 502; R. pp. 511-512 ¶¶ 53, 64).

Courtney contacted her Arizona attorney to please communicate with Hugh's attorney since Courtney and her husband wanted to be in Boston where their daughter remained in NICU. (R. p. 512, ¶ 66). Hugh and his company filed suit against Courtney, individually and as Trustee, the day after the sales proceeds were released to Courtney. (R. p. 502; R. pp. 39-133; R. p. 306, lines 16-20). Courtney removed the case to circuit court. (R. pp. 134-138).

Courtney's motion for judgment on the pleadings was denied, with Judge Kimball concluding the pleadings raised "an issue of fact" and that he required "clarification of the facts and circumstances affecting the legal issues presented." (R. pp. 4-5).

Courtney and Hugh triggered the provision of the trust to appoint a "trust protector" whose responsibility under the trust agreement, *inter alia*, was to resolve disputes regarding the trust. Catherine Kennedy, Esquire, was appointed as Trust Protector in October 2015. (R. pp. 206-210). The parties stipulated to the facts to be considered by Ms. Kennedy. (R. p. 196).

Ms. Kennedy issued a report in January 2016 based on the stipulated facts. In her report, Ms. Kennedy concluded that "the trustee would have been foolish, if not in breach of her fiduciary duties, to immediately distribute the net proceeds received from the sale" of the real estate as Hugh demanded. (R. pp. 522-528). The record now reflected the "clarification of the facts and circumstances affecting the legal issues presented" that Judge Kimball required before ruling on the legal issues presented. (R. pp. 4-5). The issues were therefore ripe for summary judgment based on the stipulated facts.

With the factual issues resolved, Courtney moved for summary judgment⁶, providing a

⁶ The motion that was actually heard was the Second Amended Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 188-210). The affidavits of Courtney and Mr. Ribadeneira were attached to the original Motion for Summary Judgment, as was

recitation of the undisputed facts, and the report of the trust protector, whose decisions were binding on the parties. (R. pp. 188-205; R. pp. 506-514; R. pp. 515-516; R. p. 421). The trust agreement provided that the “[t]rustee will not be liable for any act or omission to act if acting according to the written instructions of, or with the written consent, of the Trust Protector.” (R. p. 421). Since the Trust Protector had validated Courtney’s concerns, the trust required that Courtney be found “not liable for any act or omission” because her actions had been approved, albeit after the fact, by the trust protector.

Judge Kimball denied summary judgment, even though the facts were stipulated, and the Trust Protector had validated Courtney’s handling of the trust assets (and her refusal to make a priority distribution to Hugh). (R. pp. 6-7). In denying the motion, Judge Kimball again ruled that “it would be inappropriate to end the case at this juncture. . . without further clarification of the facts affecting the legal issues presented.” *Id.* That was the same standard he had relied upon to denying judgment on the pleadings. (R. pp. 4-5). While stating that the non-moving party needed only submit “a mere scintilla of evidence” to withstand summary judgment, Judge Kimball did not identify any facts that were in dispute. (R. pp. 6-7).

Judge Kimball tried the case nonjury on April 19, 2016. While multiple witnesses testified, no new facts were introduced into the record⁷. Nonetheless, Judge Kimball issued an order finding

the report of the Trust Protector and the stipulated facts. (R. pp. 152-179).

⁷ Hugh presented trial testimony of Professor Alan Medlin, who Judge Kimball recognized as an expert, but qualified the recognition by saying “I’m not going to say he’s an expert in his interpretation.” (R. p. 343, lines 1-9). As he had in his earlier affidavit in opposition to Summary Judgment, Professor Medlin opined that the settlor intended Hugh and his company to be treated with priority. (R. p. 345, lines 2 – 12; R. p. 346, line 20 – p. 347, line 6; R. p. 351 lines 19-21). He had also opined as much at the summary judgment stage. (R. p. 518, ¶ 4). However, Professor Medlin also concluded in his affidavit and testimony that he could understand how Courtney came to the conclusion that she did. *Id.* at Paragraph 8; R. p. 557, lines 4-5 (“I don’t agree with them, but I understand them.”) His opinion was that Courtney could have the trust distribution to Hugh, not that she was required to. (R. p. 519, ¶8). Professor Medlin,

in favor of Hugh and his company, concluding that Courtney had breached her fiduciary duty to both of them (even though the company was also determined to be a creditor) by not immediately distributing the demanded amount of funds to them following the sale. (R. pp. 10-19).

Judge Kimball found that the trust agreement required Hugh and his company to be treated with priority over any estate creditors, or other estate or trust beneficiaries, notwithstanding Courtney's other obligations under the trust agreement and/or the estate. *Id.* Judge Kimball also concluded that Hugh and his company had probable cause to file this suit against Courtney and they were therefore not barred by the "no-contest" from recovering from the trust. Upon motion for reconsideration by Courtney, the trial judge affirmed his order in total, clarified that his order had intended to adjudicate Courtney liable *personally* as well as trustee and that the judgment was entered against her in both capacities. (R. pp. 20-27).

Judge Kimball suggested during trial that he had drawn conclusions prior to actually hearing the case, which is logical under these circumstances because the facts were stipulated and trial testimony really added nothing useful to the record. By way of example of what may have been pre-determined decisions, the following sample is provided:

- "... I believe the agreement does require that she sell the property to pay the note." (R. p. 231, lines 8-9)
- "It's clear that the plaintiff loses his interest, whatever it may be." (R. p. 253, lines 20-21) (discussing the no-contest clause)
- "Look it's apparent from the documents who that is. . . We don't need to ask that. I know who profits. It's not a profit, as a matter of fact. It's just . . . increasing what they get the benefits." Q: (directed at witness) "Who benefits from the forfeiture?" Judge: "Well, the other people." (R. p. 256, lines 5-13)
- "You already testified you didn't know what her intent was." (R. p. 285, line 25 – p. 286, line 1).

drew a different conclusion than did Ms. Kennedy, but he did not find fault with how Courtney had proceeded.

- “Look, the documents are what they are. She’s alleged it’s a mistake. There’s no evidence that it was a mistake.” (R. p. 287, lines 10-12) (during the first witnesses’ examination)
- “It doesn’t matter whether she thinks it’s fair or not.” (R. p. 293, line 25 – p. 294, line 1) (discussing Courtney’s good faith)
- “It doesn’t matter whether she believes it or not. . . It doesn’t matter what she believes she ought to do, if the statutes tell her what she must do. I am not going to hear testimony about it.” (R. p. 297, lines 14-21).
- “[The trust]. . it’s pretty specific about paying those items. I’m not going to call them a debt or a claim or whatever. Paying those items. . . the amount of money is to be paid is clearly defined in that article. So what happened?”. (R. p. 312, lines 10–19).
- “Did you think you had a duty to protect the specific amounts that are mentioned in here? Witness: Yes. I think my – my intent was to ascertain all the known debts all.. Judge: That isn’t what this days. . . It just directs a payment in a specific amount as soon as practicable after my death.” (R. p. 314, lines 9-19)

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

[S]ubject matter jurisdiction is a question of law for the court." *Doe v. Barnwell Sch. Dist.* 45, 369 S.C. 659 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006) citing *Murphy v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.*, 346 S.C. 37, 43, 550 S.E.2d 589, 592 (Ct. App. 2001), *overruled on other grounds by Farmer v. Monsanto Corp.*, 353 S.C. 553, 579 S.E.2d 325 (2003). “Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Id. citing Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2000).

As to the questions relating to breach of fiduciary duty and the no-contest clause, the standard of review will depend on whether the action sounds in law or in equity. If the essential nature of the cause of action is legal, the action to be taken by the circuit court is controlled by its determination of whether or not there is any evidence to support the factual findings of the court below. *NationsBank of South Carolina v. Greenwood*, 321 S.C. 386 (Ct. App. 1996), citing *Dean v. Kilgore*, 313 S.C. 257, 437 S.E.2d 154 (Ct. App. 1993). In an action at law, on appeal of a case

tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. *Id. citing Townes Assoc., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). Accordingly, the standard of review in a case sounding in law is whether there is any evidence which reasonably supports the circuit court's findings.

Construction of the trust instrument is a question of law. *Germann v. New York Life Ins. Co.*, 286 S.C. 34 (Ct. App. 1985). An action for breach of fiduciary duty is an action at law and the trial judge's findings of fact will be upheld unless without evidentiary support" (although here the facts were stipulated). *Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs.*, 342 S.C. 579 (Ct. App. 2000) *citing Corley v. Ott*, 326 S.C. 89, 485 S.E.2d 97 (1997); *Future Group, II v. Nationsbank*, 324 S.C. 89, 478 S.E.2d 45 (1996).

"In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without a reference. The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. *Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 211 S.E.2d 876 (1974)." *Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs.*, 342 S.C. 579 (Ct. App. 2000) *citing Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). Again, however, the facts were stipulated prior to the summary judgment hearing.

ISSUE ONE

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