THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
S. JACKSON KIMBALL, SPECIAL CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Case Nos. 2015-CP-01409
Appellate Case No.: 2016-001921

IN RE:

Deborah Dereede Living Trust
dated December 18, 2013

Hugh Dereede and
Tyre Dealer Network Consultants, Inc. Respondents,

v.

Courtney Feeley Karp, Individually and
As Trustee of the Deborah Dereede Living
Trust dated December 18, 2013

and Michael Fehily, as a qualified beneficiary
of the Deborah Dereede Living Trust dated December 18, 2013.....Defendants,

Of which,

Courtney Feeley Karp, Individually and
As Trustee of the Deborah Dereede Living
Trust dated December 18, 2013 isAppellant.

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

ARGUMENT

1. The Trial Court correctly exercised jurisdiction over this matter

The bulk of the Appellant's appeal centers around the role of a trust protector and the authority of the Trust Protector in this case to adjudicate disputes arising from the Trust. Trust protectors were first explicitly recognized in this state with the adoption of the 2013 amendments to the South Carolina Probate Code. S.C. Code § 62-7-1005A (2013). As a relatively recent addition to probate practice, trust protectors have evolved as agents of settlors given limited powers to guide the behavior of trustees. See, Stewart E. Sterk, Trust Protectors, Agency Costs, and Fiduciary Duty, 27 *Cardozo L. Rev.* 2761, 2763 (2006).

The Trust generally allows the appointment of a trust protector to protect the financial resources of the Trust and the interests of its beneficiaries. (R. 417-422).

However, nothing in the Probate Code confers exclusive jurisdiction upon trust protectors over disputes that would otherwise be heard by the Probate Court or Circuit Court. While no South Carolina court has interpreted the trust protector provisions of the 2013 Probate Code amendments, under either the Code or the language of the Trust itself, the Appellant incorrectly characterizes this provision as a jurisdictional bar to the Trial Court's action. This position being contrary to the findings of the actual Trust Protector in the case at hand who refused to resolve the issues of good faith and probable cause and advised that they needed to be resolved by the Trial Court. (R. 528).

Appellant first argues that the trust protector provisions deprived the Trial Court of subject matter jurisdiction over the case. Subject matter jurisdiction is the power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong. *Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 235, 237-38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994); *Ward v. State*, 343 S.C. 14, 538 S.E.2d 245 (2000). The Complaint seeks a declaratory judgment to interpret the terms of the trust as to the issues of the parties' good faith and probable cause, and alleges a justiciable controversy that the Circuit Court is specifically empowered to hear. S.C. Code Ann. 15-53-20 (2005). As courts of record within York County, both the Probate Court and the Circuit Court plainly have subject matter jurisdiction over such claims.

Nothing in the Code suggests that the trust protector mechanism was intended to deprive the Probate Court or the Circuit Court of jurisdiction to resolve disputes. So too, the terms of the Trust do not create a mandatory or exclusive dispute resolution procedure. Rather, the clear language of the Trust creates a permissive mechanism available to the Trustee and beneficiaries "[i]n the event a Trust Protector is needed to act." (R. 417, Sec.

8(a)). No decision was made that a trust protector was needed to act prior to the initiation of this action. In fact, no suggestion of the need for a trust protector occurred until well into the litigation, and after substantial discovery and motions had been served. The Trial Court therefore had jurisdiction over the case from the outset and did not err by retaining jurisdiction throughout.

Nor does a provision for a trust protector equate to an arbitration agreement, as suggested by the Appellant. No policy in favor of trust protectors exists under state or federal law, and no statutory scheme prefers resolution of disputes by trust protectors instead of courts. *Cf., Heffner v. Destiny, Inc.*, 321 S.C. 536, 471 S.E.2d 135 (1995) (noting both state and federal policy favoring arbitration where valid arbitration agreements exist). In fact, the trust protector provisions of the Trust specifically empower the trust protector to file an action in a court of competent jurisdiction for the interpretation and construction of the Trust, or “may instruct the Trustee to do so.” (R. 421, Sec. 8(h)). This authority is plainly inconsistent with the argument that the Trust Protector has exclusive and binding jurisdiction over disputes regarding the Trust.

Finally, even if the Trust contemplated a binding process for resolving disputes through a trust protector, or is analogous to an arbitration clause, the Appellant waived her rights under it, having removed the case from Probate Court and invoking the Court’s jurisdiction (R. 134-138), actively participated in litigation for over ten months, including extensive discovery (R. 529-542), and successive dispositive motions before and after the Trust Protector was appointed (R. 151, 152- 179, 180-187, 188-205).

At trial, the Appellant effectively converted the Trust Protector from an agent of the settlor, Deborah, to an agent for herself, employing Ms. Kennedy as an expert witness

at trial. To the extent the Appellant had any right to insist on adjudication by the Trust Protector, it was therefore waived. See, *Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 374 S.C. 122, 647 S.E.2d 249 (Ct. App.2007) (noting factors for waiver of arbitration agreements). The Appellant clearly took advantage of substantial discovery and motions practice before and after the Trust Protector was appointed, as well as a full trial of the case before Judge Kimball, and cannot now complain the dispute should have been adjudicated in another venue.

Appellant next suggests, without any supporting authority, that the Trial Court should have declined to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the case. This position directly contradicts the report of the Trust Protector herself, who in her report declined to make any decision as to good faith or probable cause, and directed the Trustee to “seek resolution of those issues in the present forum.” (R. 528). By the time the possibility of a trust protector had been broached by the parties, the litigation had long since commenced. No basis exists for the Trial Court to abstain from deciding these issues within its jurisdiction, and in fact, the Appellant never requested abstention. Moreover, the Trust Protector herself stated that “[i]t does not seem to me that the later appointment of a Trust Protector relates back to require dismissal of the suit a year after it was filed.” (R. 528). As noted by the Trial Court, the parties initially asked the Trust Protector to advise the Trustee, not “unilaterally resolve any dispute.” (R. 24)

Having never moved to stay the proceedings in favor of having the Trust Protector adjudicate the dispute, the Appellant only raised this issue after she had lost at trial. So too, the Appellant abandoned any pretense that the Trust Protector was impartial when she converted Kennedy from, at best, a neutral arbiter into a partisan expert. (R. 380). Once

she became an expert witness, the Trust Protector ceased to be an agent of the settlor or impartial fiduciary of the Trust and its beneficiaries, and since she was no longer independent, was no longer qualified to serve as Trust Protector. (R. 34). Stewart E. Sterk, Trust Protectors, Agency Costs, and Fiduciary Duty, 27 Cardozo L. Rev. 2761, 2763 (2006).

The Trial Court unquestionably had subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case from the outset, and rightfully retained jurisdiction throughout the case. To the extent that any right existed to insist that the dispute be resolved by the Trust Protector, such right was waived by the conduct of the Appellant herself.

2. The Trial Court correctly decided the merits of the case.

Implicit within Appellant's Issues Two and Three is an argument that the opinions and report of the Trust Protector are entitled to deference and a presumption of correctness. Two fatal flaws in this argument exist. First, the issues presented for trial concerned (1) whether the Appellant, as Trustee, had acted in good faith in failing to pay the proceeds of the sale of Property to the Respondents, and (2) whether probable cause existed for the initiation of this action. The Trust Protector specifically (and correctly) refused to take any position on those issues in her report of January 15, 2016, and instructed the parties to have them "adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction." (R. 528). Second, having issued her report, Ms. Kennedy ceased acting in the role of neutral trust protector, and thereafter became an expert witness for the Trustee. In fact, having been proffered as an expert witness at trial, she testified specifically on behalf of the interests of the Trustee, not on behalf of the settlor, or as protector of the Trust or the other beneficiaries. (R. 380-381).

Therefore, her opinions are entitled to no more deference than those of any expert witness, and the Trial Court properly treated her testimony on par with that of Respondent's expert, Professor Alan Medlin.

In her report, the Trust Protector specifically refused to resolve the issues that were presented for trial. (R. 528). Contrary to the Appellant's characterization, the "stipulated" facts included in her motion for summary judgment merely laid out the timeline of the dispute, not the facts necessary to determine good faith and probable cause. (R. 196). Not only was summary judgment as to good faith and probable cause inappropriate prior to a merits hearing, but the Trust Protector specifically deferred to Judge Kimball on those specific issues. Again, by the time of trial, the Trustee abandoned any notion that the Trust Protector was acting as a neutral, and called upon her as an expert witness.

Respondents do not dispute that Ms. Kennedy possessed sufficient qualifications and experience to provide expert testimony, but she could no longer continue to exercise any authority she might have had as Trust Protector, and her opinions are due no additional weight merely because she expressed them. Certainly, her opinions as an expert are not entitled to be considered as findings of fact binding on the Trial Court.

The Trial Court properly focused its analysis of the case on the language of the Trust itself, and the evidence of the loan given to Deborah by Tyre to assist her in the purchase of the Property. Deborah acknowledged the existence of the promissory note and the underlying debt in the Trust instrument as well as a very specific scheme for payment of proceeds upon the sale of the Property. (R. 346-352). That scheme was clearly and unambiguously set forth in Art. VI, Section 4(a), and contemplated immediate payment under Art. V, Sec. 2. The Trial Court concluded that the Trustee's refusal to pay the

proceeds in accordance with the Trust, particularly when sufficient funds remained in the Trust to pay any remaining hypothetical expenses, breached her duty of loyalty and good faith to the Respondents. (R. 016-017) Indeed, the Trustee offered no evidence of any additional expenses or claims that would have justified any delay in payment, and that the Court concluded that the reasons she gave for withholding payment were “speculative and pretextual.” (R. 025, Sec. 3).

Appellant argues that the Trust was ambiguous in multiple respects, none of which involve the specific directions to pay the proceeds of the sale of the Property. While a payment scheme is described in the Trust, the first directive specifies that the Respondents be paid out of the proceeds of the sale of the Property after the satisfaction of any mortgage. (R. 428). Appellant’s arguments prop up the same false dilemma she argued at trial, that she was faced with an impossible choice of either paying the Respondents according to the Trust or saving the proceeds to pay hypothetical claimants that never appeared. (R. 255-265). Professor Medlin testified that in his opinion she should have just paid the Respondents per the Trust, and that her refusal to do so violated Deborah’s specific directives. (R. 358-359) By her own testimony, more than \$50,000.00 was available after payment of monies due to Hugh and Tyre to pay any additional expenses, and no other unusual or unknown creditors ever materialized (R. 258, 264-265).

Nor does Professor Medlin’s testimony offer any support for the Appellant’s argument, even if he sympathized with her situation. His affidavit clearly explains that any fear she may have had of paying claims out over hypothetical and unknown creditors would effectively be borne by Hugh, without her incurring any personal liability. (R. 517-520, 353-358). Under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-604(b), Appellant was protected from personal

liability for making the distribution to the Respondents as required by the Trust. Medlin opined that the dilemma claimed by the Appellant to justify not paying the proceeds was not supported by the Probate Code, any actual asserted claims or the legal framework surrounding her role as Trustee. Id.

Finally, the Trial Court noted that the Appellant's conduct must be viewed in light of the fact that she is a licensed attorney with "great knowledge of the obligations of a trustee and the legal requirements of a fiduciary." (R.-25). Under these circumstances, the Court concluded that the Appellant had pretextually withheld payment from the Respondents without justification in violation of her duties as Trustee. (Id.) In any event, the Trial Court properly viewed the applicable language of the Trust, found it to be unambiguous, and correctly found that the Appellant had breached her fiduciary duties by disregarding it.

3. Respondents had probable cause to bring this action.

The Appellant's Issues Four and Five posit a false choice as to the status of Tyre as either a creditor or a beneficiary, and whether it is entitled to assert probable cause. Hugh Dereede is both a beneficiary of the Trust individually, and the sole shareholder of Tyre, which is a beneficiary of the Trust by virtue of the reference to the loan used to purchase the Property. In a colloquial sense, Tyre was a creditor of Deborah, but in drafting the Trust, she created a specific scheme of distribution that ensured that the loan she had received to purchase the Property would be repaid out of the proceeds of its sale. (R. 347-349). Had Tyre's interest been represented solely by a promissory note, it would arguably be required to assert a claim against the estate like any other outside creditor. Clearly,

however, neither Hugh nor Deborah saw things this way, and as a result, Deborah wrote Tyre specifically into the Trust as a beneficiary entitled to preferred payment. Both experts who testified at trial agreed that under the language of the Trust, Tyre could be viewed as both a creditor and a beneficiary, but was not treated a creditor in the traditional sense. (R. 348, 389-391).

The absence of a promissory note supports the notion that Deborah treated Tyre as a beneficiary, since having described Tyre specifically in the Trust as a distributee, there was no need to reduce the claim to a note. Professor Medlin speculated that Tyre could have claimed as both a creditor and a beneficiary, and theoretically been entitled to payment twice, but that scheme seemed contrary to the intent of the Trust. (R. 348-349). Instead, by elevating Tyre from outside creditor to qualified beneficiary entitled to repayment of the loan before other beneficiaries, the Trust clearly established the Respondents' claim. Likewise, Ms. Kennedy agreed that Tyre was likely a beneficiary of the Trust. (R. 390). As such, Tyre was entitled to the same fiduciary duties as other beneficiaries from the Appellant, and Judge Kimball correctly concluded it was entitled to payment according to the Trust.

Moreover, Tyre was entitled to assert claims as a beneficiary in the same manner as Hugh, and subject to the same probable cause analysis. Tyre was specifically identified in the Trust as a specific and preferred/distributee, entitled to payment out of the proceeds even before Hugh. Likewise, Tyre was entitled to bring this litigation when the Appellant violated her clear and unambiguous duties to distribute proceeds, and had a reasonable expectation of success in reliance on the language of the Trust. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-605.

While the Appellant argues that ambiguities in the Trust language abound, the only part of the Trust that matters in this case was crystal clear. Because the loan from Tyre made possible Deborah's purchase of the Property, she made the repayment obligation preferred to other beneficiaries and creditors, followed by the distribution, if any, of one-half of the proceeds of sale to Hugh individually. The Appellant's justification for refusing to follow the Trust was found to be pretextual, and given her knowledge and experience as a licensed attorney, the Trial Court correctly rejected this argument. (R. 025).

4. The Trial Court correctly found liability on behalf of the Appellant as Trustee and in her individual capacity, including liability for attorney's fees.

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